
Date Published:16 March 2022     

Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel

Friday 25 March 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Simon Harper

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Simon Harper

3  MINUTES , 04/02/2022 GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME 
PANEL (Pages 1 - 6)

Simon Harper

4  HMICFRS INSPECTION REPORT - PROGRESS REPORT (Pages 7 - 
24)

PCC Chris 
Nelson, Richard 
Ocone

5  UPDATE ON THE REVIEW OF THE ROLE OF POLICE AND CRIME 
COMMISSIONER (PCC) (Pages 25 - 36)

 

PCC Chris 
Nelson

6  OFFICE OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER - CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE REPORT (Pages 37 - 50)

Richard Bradley

7  GLOUCESTERSHIRE CONSTABULARY AUDIT COMMITTE (Pages 51 
- 56)

The Panel to be informed on the role of the Constabulary’s Audit 
Committee.

PCC Chris 
Nelson

8  COMPLAINTS (Pages 57 - 64)

The Panel to receive a report outlining the complaints process.

PCC Chris 
Nelson

FUTURE MEETINGS

1 July 2022
9 September 2022



    

4 November 2022

All meetings start at 10.00am and are held in Shire Hall, Gloucester.

Membership –  Cllr Joe Harris, Cllr Sajid Patel, Cllr Steve Robinson (Vice-Chair) and 
Cllr Brian Tipper Cllr Ray Brassington, Cllr Jonny Brownsteen (Chairman), Cllr Philip Burford, Cllr 
David Gray, Cllr Dawn Melvin and Cllr Martin Pearcy
Independent Members - Martin Smith (Independent member)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests 
or personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be 
discussed at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  
Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent 
members from declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list 
will be available for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324094 e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel held on Friday 4 
February 2022 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Ray Brassington
Cllr Jonny Brownsteen 
(Chairman)
Cllr Philip Burford
Cllr David Gray

Cllr Sajid Patel
Martin Smith
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Steve Robinson

Substitutes: Cllr Colin Hay (In place of Cllr Joe Harris)

Officers in attendance:

Chris Nelson – Police and Crime Commissioner
Nick Evans – Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner
Richard Bradley – Chief Executive, Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner
Ruth Greenwood – Deputy Chief Executive, Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner
Jane Heppel, Constabulary Chief Finance Officer
John Jones, Chief Finance Officer, Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner
Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser (GCC)

Apologies: Cllr Dawn Melvin and Cllr Martin Pearcy

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

See above.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting on 3 November 2021 were agreed as a correct record.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations were made at the meeting.

4. PROPOSED GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE PRECEPT 2022/23 

4.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) gave a detailed presentation of 
the report. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

4.2 The Commissioner explained that he was elected on a manifesto to 
strengthen the Constabulary and that those commitments were in the Police 
and Crime Prevention Plan priorities. Investment was needed in resources 
and capabilities required. The budget was aimed at strengthening the 
Constabulary. He explained that he had inherited a budget gap and the 
consequences of previous spending decisions, including the prioritisation of 
estate investment over ICT infrastructure. 

4.3 By way of context, it was outlined that there had been uncertainty over the 
Central Government grant and funding formulae changes. The December 
grant announcement was based on an outdated funding formula (rural areas 
tended to suffer) and Gloucestershire remained among the lowest funded 
forces via the Home Office grant and therefore heavily reliant on the precept.

4.4 The average precept increase over the previous four years had been £13.90 
per year with the maximum allowed over that period £15.25.

4.5 In summary, the financial pressures included the required investment to 
respond to HMICFRS, inflationary cost pressures, the rise in National 
Insurance, and increases in police and staff pay. Assumptions were made 
against each of these factors in setting the budget. 

4.6 The recommendations to the Panel was for an increase in Council Tax for a 
Band D property of £10 per week which was an increase of 3.7%. This would 
set a revenue budget for 2022/23 of £139,985,046 and a Capital Budget for 
2022/23 of £14.501m. The Commissioner stated that the vast majority of 
Forces had asked for the full amount which had been agreed by their panels.

4.7 Members noted the additional sources of funding through grant bids and 
government funding schemes that accounted for £4 million.

4.8 The increased precept for 2022/23 would fund additional investment areas 
such as improving the 101 service, safeguarding vulnerable children and 
adults, recording crime accurately, neighbourhood policing and recruitment 
of extra Special Constables, volunteer PCSOs and expanding of Police 
Cadets. The Commissioner wanted to find new ways to support Road Safety 
and to be creative in crime prevention; he felt that Police Cadets was one 
avenue that could be explored.

4.9 The Commissioner explained that the plan would have required a 6% 
increase and so, in accordance with the CSR announcement, the plan had 
been adjusted. The operational requirement was for 453 additional officers 
and staff but that was not affordable under the current funding position. 386 
was the affordable position, plus an additional uplift of 76 FTE for the 
Constabulary.   

4.10 Members noted the engagement events across the County which had 
gathered supportive feedback on the plans. The precept consultation had 
been inhibited by the late notification of the budget announcement. There 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

had been road shows arranged throughout the County and, since December, 
there had been an opportunity for residents to provide feedback. 

4.11 One member asked about the manifesto commitment to increase police 
officers by 300. What timescale was in place to achieve that? In response it 
was explained that the Commissioner was committed to it and the budget 
was for a three year period. The Commissioner wanted to get an additional 
100 full time officers in the future but was unclear how that could be 
achieved by the end of the term of office. 

4.12 A question was asked on the number of police officers in post now compared 
to when the Commissioner had been elected.  In response he explained that 
the national uplift programme had provided 46, in total there would be an 
additional 59 during the first financial year. Recruitment was on a regular 
basis just to replace those that had retired as well as to increase the 
numbers. The Commissioner had regular meetings with the HR managers. 

4.13 The Panel continued to question the Commissioner as to why the manifesto 
commitment of 300 police officers and PCSOs would not be delivered with 
two years of his term of office remaining. They noted the difficulties in 
recruitment, but some members felt this should have been recognised at the 
time of making those promises.  In response, it was explained that the 
election promise was made with sincerity. Warwickshire had managed to 
increase their force size by 200 by way of comparison. During the campaign, 
the Commissioner had stated that the precept would be required to go up in 
order to recruit more officers but it was no longer possible to raise that 
funding through the precept. The HMICFRS report had been very critical in 
regards to the force and so staff was required to go into the control room and 
crime management standards area. This had taken the Commissioner by 
surprise. Those problems needed to be dealt with first. This was a 
consequence of previous lack of investment. 

4.14 One member stated that the government was putting less funding into Police 
and that the responsibility for funding was going to the tax payer. In addition, 
with the added national insurance, he suggested that the financial position of 
the force was concerning and he felt that the ambitions could not be 
achieved. He asked what the Commissioner had done to lobby the 
Government so that Gloucestershire got a fair share. The Commissioner 
replied that government funding had risen over the previous year but that he 
had been lobbying along with colleagues for government to improve the 
funding formulae.  

4.15 In response to further concerns regarding the funding formula and how much 
the Commissioner was doing to lobby for change, he replied that he had 
formally met and listened to the Home Office briefing on  the factors being 
considered. The PCCs had working groups that fed into the Home Office. 
This was regularly raised with the ministers and the commitment from the 
government was to sort this out before the next Election. The Commissioner 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

also provided details of the bids that he encouraged the team to make to add 
to the funding streams.

4.16 One member indicated that the public had been crying out for an increase 
police personnel wherever that sat within the organisation. He felt that the 
numbers in the manifesto had been ambitious; he recognised that the aim for 
300 officers was still there but that he welcomed the current plans in light of 
the budget available. He supported the budget. The Commissioner explained 
that over 3 years the budget would allow for an increase in 400 personnel 
and that it represented good value for money. 

4.17 One member asked how much money could be provided by recovering 
proceeds from crime. The Commissioner felt there was more that could be 
explored in this area to raise money.

4.18 The Commissioner outlined the increased demand on the control centre and 
the need for better telephony in that area and a customer relationship 
management system. 

4.19 One member raised concerns that the HMICFRS report was a surprise to the 
Chief Constable. He felt that the number of officers was irrelevant, providing 
that policing could be carried out effectively. In view of the HMIC report, he 
asked whether a different approach might be to ensure that the Constabulary 
was focused on doing the day job better and not expecting more money. In 
response, the Commissioner replied that efficiency was important. He felt 
that there was further scope for changes within the Force, related to 
reductions in funding but also the changing nature of crime. The HMICFRS 
report included a fundamentally different way of analysis and there had been 
insufficient funding to ensure effective auditing of data. The Commissioner 
was increasing the numbers of audit staff.

4.20 Some members supported the budget but stated that in the next year the 
Panel wanted to see much improved policing in the County. The 
Commissioner stated his aim was to make Gloucestershire a safer place to 
live. He discussed the complexities of crime reporting and crime statistics. 
There would be a survey on how the public felt the Force was doing as one 
measure of achievement. 

4.21 One member felt that the 300 number was unhelpful as it was unrealistic. 
The Commissioner replied that he would reflect on that but that he expected 
to get challenged on the figure that he had put in his manifesto.

4.22 In response to a question, the Commissioner provided clarity on what the 
existing strength of the force was and what the budget would deliver going 
forward. This was provided in the annex to the budget report. There was 
complexities around the headcount of the Force but it was clarified that 1,255 
posts would be in place by end of March 2023. In response to a question it 
was explained that depending on skill set, it could take a significant length of 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

time before the individual was on the frontline. For example, a police 
constable could take 6-12 months until they were on the front line. 

4.23 One member queried the lack of a pre-meeting for the Panel to discuss the 
budget with the Commissioner. It was explained that a budget briefing paper 
had been used instead of that to reflect the late date of the settlement. The 
Commissioner’s Office would be happy to reinstate the pre meeting in future 
years if the Panel requested it. The caveat was that 100% accurate 
information might not be available at that early stage of the process.

4.24 In response to a query, it was explained that there had been 3 additional 
posts in the Commissioner’s Office. The first was an Analyst, the second was 
a South West Policy Officer funded across the five South West PCCs and 
the third was an officer focussed on domestic abuse funded by the PCC and 
County Council.

4.25 One member suggested that the external and internal auditor reports be 
received by the Panel. 

4.26 The Chair asked the Commissioner to explain what he would say to the 
public to justify the increase in tax while not meeting his manifesto 
commitment of 300 additional police officers. The Chair noted that the 
reputation of the police was not good nationally, he suggested that central 
government was wasting money and that there had been an increase in the 
cost of living. The Commissioner replied that he would be doing a press 
release to explain the position. He outlined that this was the best budget 
being offered, the biggest increase in officers in a generation of 400 extra 
police staff. He felt that it represented significant value for money. The 
increase in Council Tax was less than the average increase in previous 
years. 

4.27 The Commissioner thanked his team and the Constabulary for the work they 
had carried out in preparing the budget and the support they provided to him. 

4.28 Panel members proposed that they accept the recommendations in the 
paper and endorse the budget. There had been no calls for veto and so it 
was 

RESOLVED

To support the proposed precept.

5. HMICFRS INSPECTION REPORT - PROGRESS REPORT 

5.1 The Commissioner provided a progress report on the recent outcome of the 
HMICFRS ‘PEEL’ inspection 2021. Richard Bradley, Chief Executive of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner, introduced the report which summarised 
the ongoing actions.  The intention was to produce update reports for future 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Police and Crime Panel meetings. Members noted the details of the Chief 
Officer oversight in the report.

5.2 Accuracy and crime data integrity was the main focus of the concerns by 
HMICFRS and the report detailed how the Constabulary had improved in this 
area. Those levels represented an ‘outstanding’ level. In addition there were 
three new crime standards audit officers in post.

5.3 The report provided further details on the control room and improvements in 
the use of technology. In addition the team were busy visiting other Forces to 
understand what they were doing to achieve their good or outstanding 
ratings. 

5.4 It was proposed that Richard Ocone attend the next panel meeting to 
discuss this in more detail. Members requested further details around the 
measurement and targets being used and how that would be implemented. 
ACTION Richard Bradley

5.5 Members welcomed the upcoming peer review from the West Midlands.

5.6 One member asked for an update on the recruitment within the control room. 
It was explained that this as going well and that one of the benefits to the 
changes being made to the control room was that there were more flexible 
working arrangements which attracted more applications. 

5.7 The Panel thanked Andrea Clarke for her support of the Panel, her tenacity, 
and her diligence and wished her a happy retirement. 

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.35 pm

Page 6



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 1

Gloucestershire Constabulary progress 

against HMICFRS PEEL 2021

Detective Chief Superintendent Richard Ocone

25 March 2022

Sensitive

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 2

. Introduction: Initial response to hot 

debrief (21 June 2021)01
Pre-debrief:

• Informal feedback of areas of concern

• Declaration of critical incident to respond appropriately

• Creation of temporary Crime Standards command with D/Superintendent leading

Post-debrief:

• Gold group chaired by ACC

• Extensive communications campaign delivered to the constabulary; videos, blogs, 

senior leadership briefing

• Commencement of targeted training; crime recording, victim care, investigation 

standards

• Development and fast tracking of recommendations paper to address crime 

recording shortfalls

• Growth of twenty seven police staff members to create a Crime Standards Bureau

• Temporary growth of staff in existing Crime Management Unit

P
age 8



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 3

. Introduction: Response to full report 

(27 October 2021)01
Leadership:

• Recruitment of new Head of Analysis, Research and Planning

• Recruitment of two Chief Superintendents to lead on PEEL recovery; demand, efficiency 

and transformation/HMICFRS liaison, Supportive Leadership and Wellbeing, Partnerships

• Recruitment of five new Superintendents to restore overall establishment and increase 

resilience following retirement and promotion

• Recently finished a Chief Inspector process

Governance:

• Creation of Chief Constable’s Performance Board to replace Performance Improvement 

Board (previously chaired by DCC)

• Creation of PEEL Recovery Group, chaired by Chief Constable

• Creation of fortnightly ‘Momentum’ meetings chaired by DCC

• Sub boards; CDI, FCR, Flex and Op Effectiveness chaired by ACC/Head of People 

Services

• FCR silver overseeing Control Room project

• CDI silver overseeing Crime Standards Bureau project

P
age 9



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 4

. Introduction: Response to full report 

(27 October 2021)01
Learning from others:

• Visit to Durham Constabulary 2-4 February

• Visit to West Yorkshire Constabulary 28-30 

March

• Visit to Cumbria Police planned between 15-

19 March

• West Midlands Police – Force Crime 

Registrar and CDI peer support

• Visit to Devon and Cornwall Police to 

examine demand modelling tool 5 November

• Tensense.ai introduction and engagement of 

DCC Bernie O’Reilly via College of Policing 

• Early recommendation review exercise with 

HMICFRS

• Review of FMS templates with Luke Pavey at 

HMICFRS

P
age 10



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 5

.02 Causes of concern and 

alignment to Constabulary plans

P
age 11



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 6

.02 Causes of concern and 

alignment to Constabulary plans

Causes of Concern Workstream

1. The force recognises that it needs to review and monitor its call-taking 

capacity, capability and processes, to help it better manage demand. 

To address this, it has started to put processes in place. This would 

reduce the average time taken to answer 999 calls and reduce the 

number of 101 calls that are abandoned (CoC1).

Force Control 

Room

Performance 

Management

Demand and 

Efficiency

Continuous

Improvement 

and Innovation

2. The inconsistent application of an effective THRIVE (threat, harm, risk, 

investigation, vulnerability and engagement) risk assessment by call 

handlers, accompanied by the absence of victim needs assessments 

and the limited extent to which repeat victims are identified and 

recorded, potentially leaves victims at risk. This means that they aren’t 

always getting the service they should expect (CoC2).

Force Control 

Room

Continuous

Improvement and 

Innovation

3. Gloucestershire Constabulary is failing to record domestic abuse, 

behavioural crimes, and crimes linked to anti-social behaviour. This is 

significantly affecting the force’s crime recording standards. And it shows 

that victims of domestic abuse, behavioural crimes and anti-social 

behaviour are not getting the service they have a right to expect and 

deserve (CoC3).

Crime

Recording

and 

Crime Data 

Integrity 

Performance 

Management
ICT Transformation

Continuous

Improvement 

and Innovation

4. Gloucestershire Constabulary is unable to manage current demand 

effectively. It doesn’t have enough capacity or capability to respond to 

calls effectively, or to investigate crime as well as it should. Too often, this 

is affecting the service it offers. The force is failing to respond 

appropriately to some vulnerable people. This means it is missing some 

opportunities to safeguard victims and secure evidence (CoC5).

Investigative

Standards

Performance 

Management

Demand and 

Efficiency

Continuous

Improvement 

and Innovation

5. The force does not have adequate financial plans in place and is not 

managing its resources effectively(CoC6).

Finance and 

Medium Term 

Financial 

Planning 

(MTFP)

Demand and 

Efficiency

Continuous

Improvement and 

Innovation

Supportive 

Leadership and

Wellbeing

P
age 12



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 7

. Force Control Room
Causes of concern 1, 2 and 503

FCR Silver – Chaired by ACC Rhiannon 
Kirk:

• Approved uplift of 10 FTE.

• Recruitment into FCR defined as high 
priority area to support uplift, offset 
attrition and maintain baseline.

• Regular FCR recruitments throughout 
2021, 2022 and 2023 timetabled.

• SmartSTORM (Feb 2022), Windows 10 
(Feb/March 2022), CRM Aspire (est May 
2022), Finesse Cortex 10.5 integration 
(est March 2022)

• Ongoing improvements to training, 
supervision and leadership (including 
THRIVE+)

• New grading policy live 1 February 2022

P
age 13



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 8

.04
Existing model – temporary CMU uplift:

• Doubling of staffing from 18 to 36

• Bespoke NCRS and HOCR training (1 week) for 
all CMU staff to increase compliance

Crime Standards Bureau:

• 1 Detective Inspector, 4 Sergeants, 24 
Constables and 24 Police Staff

• Further 2 Sergeants and 6 Constables forming a 
closure team

• 3 Auditors (2 in post as of 7 Feb, 1 to follow)

• Crime at point of call

• All staff recruited and trained by 9 May (10 police 
staff arrived 31 Jan, 8 on 28 Feb and final 6 on 
19 April)

• Unifi and Pronto upgrades

• Expected to be fully operational June/July 2022

Crime recording and crime data  

integrity
Cause of concern 5

P
age 14



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 9

.04
Crime recording and crime data 

integrity
Cause of concern 5

Training:

• Crime standards led training (NCRS, VCOP and investigative standards)   

o 689 officers in summer/autumn 2021

• Crime standards training for Sergeants

o 187 in November/December 2021

• Further crime standards training (February/March) on Divisional Days

• Crime standards training for Inspectors in (February and March)

CDI accuracy:

P
age 15



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 10

.05 Performance Management
Causes of concern 1, 3 and 5

Introduction of a new performance framework 

 Development of new Operational Performance 

scorecard used in CCPB and OPB

 Production of new LPA level data to facilitate meaningful 

force-wide assessments 

 Introduction of new Targets against key outcomes to 

ensure that we perform as well as or better than our 

MSFs

 Development of work stream lead “accountability 

forms” to capture local activity pertaining to data quality 

and collection, best practice  

 Development of function-specific demand and 

effectiveness process (e.g. spec ops, Forensics, PSD)

 Development of Quality Assurance activity in areas 

that are difficult to assess

 Introduction of ACC-led Quarterly Performance Review 

Meetings with all Heads of Department

 Performance Dashboard training delivered to all 

sergeants

P
age 16



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 11

.06 Investigative Standards
Cause of concern 5

Awareness videos:

• Utilising subject matter experts and external 
guests

VCOP:

• Recruitment of a Victim Strategic Coordinator

• Use of the VCOP audit

• Development of investigative templates 
(including VCOP) in Unifi and Pronto.

• VCOP app

• DQ CMU survey to drive improved equalities 
data

DEPEND:

• New Gloucestershire (Nov 2021) approach to 
OOCD and two-tier framework

P
age 17



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 12

.07
Finance and Medium term 
Financial Planning (MTFP)
Cause of concern 6

Election of PCC Chris Nelson:
• Manifesto pledge of 300 officer uplift
• New PCC with new plans

Effects of pandemic:
• Reduced tax-base and assumptions made 

from that reduction

Progress:
• New MTFP agreed
• £10m gap over medium term reduced to 

£4.4m with a balanced budget in 2025/26
• Plan includes agreement of 54 police staff 

and 105 police officer uplift alongside 230 
new volunteer roles

• 3 posts being filled in Finance team to 
improve capacity

• Significantly improved collaborative 
approach to finance; PCC, COG, Heads of 
Department and Finance

P
age 18



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 13

.08
Supportive Leadership 

and Wellbeing
Cause of concern 6

SL&WB:

• Version 2.0

• Addition of two day 
inclusion module linked 
to Durham University 
evidence base and 
NPCC pilot

• High performance 
expectations and 
standards

• Recruitment of new 
Wellbeing Manager and 
a Welfare Support 
Officer

• Refresh of established 
SL&WB course (with 
FR&S)

P
age 19



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 14

.09 Demand and Efficiency
Causes of concern 1, 5 and 6

• Chief Superintendent Arman Mathieson leading

• Demand and efficiency review terms of reference agreed

Aim:

To implement sustainable improvements in the understanding and management of 
our demand and resources.

Objectives:

• Better understand our demand and resource allocation in the short, medium 

and long term

• Be in a position to demonstrate this to HMICFRS

• Identify and remove waste from our Force operating model via a programme of 

smarter ways of working

• Realise 1% of the 2022/23 net revenue budget in cashable or non-cashable 

savings over the next 2 years

• Focusing on Supportive Leadership and Wellbeing by removing hindrance 

stressors

P
age 20



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 15

.10
Continuous Improvement and

Innovation (Op Model)
All causes of concern

The Continuous Improvement and Innovation project 
will seek to review our operating model

• Linked to demand and efficiency review above

• Process review

• Creation of sustainable culture of continuous 
improvement and innovation

• Identification of waste and hindrance stressors

• Quick wins

• Plus, longer term, cross cutting or more complex 
changes and investments

• Innovation

• Sustainable improvements and adaptations to existing 
operating model

P
age 21



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 16

.11 ICT Transformation
Cause of concern 3

Focused on holistic review of ICT and Change 
department:

Dynamic review of projects and programmes over 
last 6 years.  Leading to three recommendations

ICT Stabilisation Project:

• Seeking to achieve long-term sustainability of the 

operation of the Force ICT Department

• Ensuring the ICT department has the capacity 

and capabilities required to deliver the services 

needed by the constabulary

• Whilst maintaining business as usual and the 

requirements of the Demand and Efficiency 

programme

• This will include the replacement programme

for Unifi-RMS with Niche

P
age 22



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 17

.12 Potential blockers and barriers 

to effective recovery

• Recruitment pipeline

• Inexperienced workforce, PEQF etc

• Unmet demand from partners e.g. MH 
services and ambulance consuming 
capacity

• ICT architecture and legacy issues

• Increasingly complex case files created by 
national guidance such as AG/DG6

• Finance, increasing cost pressures both on 
Constabulary and employees

• Effects of national issues on employee 
morale e.g. pensions, pay and findings 
from ongoing enquiries into police 
misconduct

P
age 23



gloucestershire.police.uk Slide 18

Thank you for listening, your 

observations and questions are 

welcome.

Sensitive

P
age 24



 

Gloucestershire Police & Crime Panel 

PCC Review 

25 March 2022 
 

 
 
In 2020, the Minister of State for Crime and Policing laid a Written Ministerial Statement in 
Parliament, setting out plans to conduct a two-stage review into the role of Police and Crime 
Commissioners. This review aligns with the Government’s manifesto commitment to 
strengthen the accountability of PCCs and expand their role. 
 
 

Review intentions 
 
The stated intention from Government in conducting the review was to consider how the role 
of Police and Crime Commissioners can be sharpened and expanded in line with 
overarching ambitions in respect of mayoral devolution.  
 
The review considered the role of PCCs as set out in the Policing and Social Responsibility 
Act 2011 and did not consider a wholly new governance model for policing (mayoral PCC 
transfers aside) or territorial structures.  
 
 

Written Ministerial Statements 
 
The following links are to relevant Written Ministerial Statements regarding the review: 

 Launching a review of the Police and Crime Commissioner model – statement made on 
22 July 2020 

 Concluding Part One of the Police and Crime Commissioner Review – statement made 
on 16 March 2021 

 Update on Part Two of the Police and Crime Commissioner Review – statement made 
on 7 March 2022 

 
 

Review findings: Part One 

 
The Review stated that the Home Office would bring forward a range of measures aimed at:  

 strengthening PCC accountability;  

 improving PCC transparency to the public;  

 clarifying the relationship between PCCs and Chief Constables;  

 bringing more consistency to the PCC role;  

 raising professional standards, and  

 improving the checks and balances.  
 
The Review concluded more needed to be done to explain the role of PCCs to the public 
and make performance on crime more transparent, enhancing PCC’s accountability.  
 
 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2020-07-22/hlws409
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2021-03-16/hcws849/
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2022-03-07/hcws664


Transparency and accountability  
 
 Specified Information Order: Following the review the Home Office amended the 

Specified Information Order (SIO) to include a requirement for PCCs to publish on their 
website a narrative assessment of how well their force is performing in relation to (a) the 
National Crime and Policing Measures and (b) Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) PEEL inspections of their force 
area. 

 First past the post: The Review stated that the Government would make changes to 
the PCC voting system to introduce ‘first past the post’. This would require legislative 
change and we expect it to be introduced for May 2024 elections. 

 
Resilience and the role of Deputy PCCs 
 
 What works and good practice sharing: The Review concluded more should be done 

to ensure all PCCs adopt best practice and said that there is now a need to improve the 
resilience of the Office of the PCC. The Review recommended the Association of Police 
and Crime Commissioners (APCC) works with the College of Policing to build on the 
policing Knowledge Hub to develop a ‘what works’ compendium for PCCs. The Review 
also recommended that the Home Office and APCC jointly develop a comprehensive set 
of non-statutory guidance on the core elements of the PCC role. 

 Deputy PCCs: To enhance resilience and capacity of PCCs, given the intention to 
expand the role, the Home Office committed to bringing forward legislation to mandate 
that each PCC must appoint a Deputy (of the same political party where the PCC 
represents a political party). In the interim, the Home Office is to issue guidance to PCCs’ 
offices requesting that a formal succession plan is put into place to deal with vacancy 
and incapacitation, involving the Police and Crime Panel in discussions as necessary.  

 
Scrutiny and the role of Police and Crime Panels  
 
 Good governance and training: The Home Office will work with the Local Government 

Association (LGA) to develop a good governance training package for Police and Crime 
Panels. The APCC will work closely with PCCs / OPCCs, the Home Office, the LGA and 
panels to ensure the guidance captures and reflects the lessons learnt and best practice.  
 
PCCs and Chief Constables  

 
 Accountability Guidance: The Home Office will work with the College of Policing, 

APCC and National Police Chiefs’ Council (NPCC) to build on the ‘Accountability 
Guidance’ already in place, including in relation to the performance management of Chief 
Constables, to help to promote and embed a positive relationship between Chief 
Constables.  

 Policing Protocol: The Home Office committed to consulting on potential changes to 
the Policing Protocol Order 2011 to provide greater clarity on the boundaries of 
operational independence and reflect changes in the relationship between the parties to 
the Protocol which have taken place over time. The Protocol sets out how the policing 
governance relationships should work, including that of the Home Secretary, and clarifies 
the roles and responsibilities of PCCs, Chief Constables, and Police and Crime Panels.  

 Section 38: The Home Office will legislate to amend Section 38 of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011, to make the Chief Constable dismissal process more 
rigorous and transparent. PCCs will be required to give the Chief Constable written notice 
(including grounds), as the first stage of the dismissal process; allowing for the Chief to 

Page 26



provide HMCIC a response to those grounds; and introducing some form of time limit or 
review interval on a Chief Constable’s suspension from office.  

 Mediation: The Home Office will work with the College of Policing, NPCC and APCC to 
develop a framework for the use of independent mediation in appropriate circumstances.  

 Senior Officer Recruitment: The Home Office will seek to address the HMICFRS 
recommendations included in its ‘Leading Lights’ (September 2019) report, looking into 
the role of the College of Policing in the senior recruitment process. They will work with 
stakeholders to address the issues raised through the review in relation to fixed term 
appointments.  

 
The mayoral / PCC model  
 
 Devolution: The Review concluded that the join-up of public safety functions under a 

combined authority mayor has the potential to offer wider levers to prevent crime. The 
Government has confirmed it will take steps to remove barriers to more mayors taking 
on these functions and will work with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) to develop the forthcoming Devolution and Local Recovery White 
Paper with that longer-term trajectory in mind.  

 Fire Governance: The Government has confirmed further reform of fire and rescue is 
required in order to respond to the recommendations from Phase One of the Grenfell 
Tower Inquiry, the Kerslake Review, and to build on the findings from Sir Thomas 
Winsor’s State of Fire and Rescue Report. The reform agenda will focus on three key 
areas:  

 people;  
 professionalism;  
 and governance.  

 

The Home Office committed to launching a consultative White Paper on fire reform which 
will set out the reform agenda in further detail. 

 
 

Review findings: Part Two 

 
Part Two of the Review findings were announced on 7 March 2022. Part Two aims to 
strengthen PCC involvement in the ‘crime’ part of their portfolio.  To do this, PCCs will 
increase their role in reducing crime and re-offending by having a central role in Local 
Criminal Justice Boards and having more access to data which will help PCCs to see how 
well their police force operates within the wider criminal justice landscape. 
 
The information below outlines what the Home Office will do under each area covered by 
Part Two of the PCC Review.  
 
Offender management 
 
 Legislate to introduce a new duty for PCCs and Regional Probation Directors (RPDs) to 

consult one another when developing priorities for their Police and Crime Plans and 
Regional Reducing Reoffending Plans respectively.  

 Legislate to introduce a new duty for PCCs and RPDs to collaborate, where appropriate.  
 Work with the APCC and HMPPS to develop guidance on the co-commissioning of 

services by RPDs and PCCs.  
 Encourage the APCC and Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS) to 

develop a memorandum of understanding on the relevant data to support the reduction 
of reoffending and improve confidence in local data sharing.  

Page 27



 Work with HMPPS and the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) to produce guidance on the PCC 
role in unpaid work.  

 
Community Safety Partnerships and Local Criminal Justice Boards  
 
 Work to develop options for legislation to put Local Criminal Justice Boards (LCJBs) on 

statutory footing. This will include defining the role of the PCC as Chair and setting out 
the expected membership.  

 Update the Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) guidance to provide greater clarity on the role 
of the PCC within the VRU, including chairing of the governance board and a 
recommendation that all OPCCs identify a dedicated VRU liaison officer.  

 Consider multi-year funding cycles for VRUs.  
 Undertake a review of Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) before assessing their 

position with the wider landscape of local partnerships across England and Wales.  
 Consider introducing a new duty for CSPs to report on local anti-social behaviour 

strategy and delivery to PCCs and legislating to set out the PCC role in the Community 
Trigger process.  

 Amend the core PCC guidance and share good practice to help PCCs understand how 
they can leverage local partnerships to tackle drugs misuse and supply.  

 Clarify legislation on PCC representation on local government committees  
 
Public confidence  
 
 Encourage the College of Policing to work with the APCC to assess what enables PCCs 

to build public confidence and engage communities.  
 Amend the core PCC Guidance to reflect the role of the PCC in securing and maintaining 

public confidence. The guidance will outline the importance of the PCC’s role in holding 
the Chief to account for their responsibility to understand and build public confidence.  

 Set out how PCCs should reach out and engage diverse communities across their local 
area in order to help close the confidence gap.  

 
Data  
 
 Support PCCs to work with HMICFRS and wider Criminal Justice Service (CJS) partners 

to improve the quality of, and access to, performance information against the National 
Crime and Policing Measures.  

 Support PCCs to work with HMICFRS and wider policing partners to develop a police 
efficiency dataset and improve their ability to differences between forces to drive 
efficiencies.  

 Support the College of Policing to hold regular learning events that support the 
development of analytical capability and data literacy within PCC offices.  

 Work with the MoJ and Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) to develop national 
guidance on data sharing between CJS partners, including PCCs. This will be reinforced 
by work led by the APCC to bring together good examples of local data sharing.  
 

Police and Crime Panels 
  
 Work with the LGA and Welsh LGA to improve the process for recruiting and retaining 

independent members.  
 Work with the LGA and Welsh LGA to develop and assess options for a regional panel 

support secretariat.  
 

Page 28



Complaints   
 
 Consider the process for how complaints of criminal misconduct are handled and the 

scope to align a new code of conduct with the regime for mayors and councillors.  
 Consider how to address the problem of vexatious and political motivated complaints 

against a PCC, or complaints which are nothing to do with policing.  
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Update on the review of the role of Police and Crime Commissioner

Priti Patel Secretary of State for the Home Department

Statement made 7 March 2022

Today, I am pleased to set out to the House a package of measures in support of 
this Government’s manifesto commitment to expand and strengthen the role of our 
directly elected Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs), and those Mayors with 
PCC functions, including the findings from the second part of our internal review into 
the role of PCCs.

Our two-part Review will ensure PCCs can focus more sharply on local crime 
fighting, with stronger accountability to those they serve. As set out in the 
Government’s Beating Crime Plan, PCCs allow the public’s voice to be heard on 
local policing and crime matters and hold Chief Constables to account for delivering 
what communities need. As such, PCCs continue to play a critical role in reducing 
crime and reoffending.

Part One of the Review focused on making it easier for the public to hold their PCC 
to account for their record on delivering the safer streets that they deserve. In March 
2021, I announced a package of reforms that will ultimately help people judge their 
PCC at the ballot box and we are making good progress in bringing about these 
important changes.

Today, I want to update the House on two specific measures from Part One, before I 
turn to our conclusions from Part Two.

- The first gets to the heart of equipping our PCCs with the right tools and powers to 
work with their partners to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour. Our targeted 
consultation last year found broad support for ‘levelling up’ PCCs by providing them 
with a wider functional power of competence so they have parity with the equivalent 
powers held by fire and rescue authorities and most mayoral combined authorities. 
By equipping PCCs with this new power, we will make it easier for them to act 
creatively to reduce crime and to make better use of police resources.

- Secondly, I pledged to consult on changes to the Policing Protocol Order. This is a 
document that sets out the roles and responsibilities of various people involved in 
policing, such as PCCs, chief constables and police and crime panels. I am therefore 
launching a targeted, stakeholder consultation to seek views from our policing 
partners on how we can refresh this document to provide a ‘brighter-line’ on the 
boundaries of operational independence and to better reflect my role as Home 
Secretary. If we are going to deliver on our shared mission to cut crime, it is essential 
that all those involved in policing understand their respective roles.

Having focused in Part One on strengthening their role, we wanted to use the 
second part of our Review to ensure that PCCs have the information, levers and 

Page 31



tools to help cut crime, drugs misuse and anti-social behaviour. After almost a 
decade since their introduction, it is time to focus on the ‘and crime’ part of the PCC 
role.

I will now give an overview of our Part Two conclusions. All our recommendations 
are set out in full as an annex attached to this statement (Annex A).

To cement PCCs’ role in offender management: PCCs are held locally accountable 
for reducing crime, but to carry out their duties effectively, we must give them the 
levers to work across their local criminal justice system. We will create a new 
statutory duty to lock-in collaborative working between PCCs and the Probation 
Service. This step, in conjunction with the other measures we will bring forward, will 
help align the work of PCCs and local probation services around their shared goal to 
break the chain of reoffending.

To improve the way PCCs work in partnership with others to fight crime and support 
victims: We need to see all public safety partners playing their full part in the fight 
against crime. It is essential that PCCs can bring local agencies together to tackle 
the issues that blight their communities – like drugs misuse, anti-social behaviour 
and neighbourhood crime. We will provide PCCs with the tools to do this by 
strengthening the guidance that underpins their role in convening partners to fight 
crime and drugs misuse, in line with Dame Carol Black’s independent review on 
drugs. We will also give PCCs a central role on Local Criminal Justice Boards, 
support their work on Violence Reduction Units and clarify the local crime prevention 
landscape through an in-depth review of Community Safety Partnerships in England 
and Wales. Of course, PCCs continue to play a vital role in supporting victims of 
crime. The Ministry of Justice Victims’ Bill consultation considered how to expand 
and strengthen PCC’s role in relation to oversight of victims’ experiences in the 
criminal justice system and commissioning support services, and so it was not 
examined within Part Two of the PCC Review, but the work is complementary and 
aligned. The consultation closed in February, and the Government will introduce the 
Victims’ Bill as soon as possible.

To improve public confidence in policing: PCCs play an important role as the voice of 
victims and use their levers to tackle the issues raised by complainants. To do this 
well, PCCs must visibly hold the police to account on behalf of their whole 
community and use their role to help uphold police legitimacy. We will support PCCs 
by clarifying our expectations in this regard and work with the Association of Police 
and Crime Commissioners and the College of Policing to ensure PCCs have access 
to the best possible evidence about what helps foster local confidence in policing.

To improve PCC’s access to criminal justice data: Without sharing information on a 
timely basis, local crime fighting activity cannot be delivered in a joined-up way. 
Local partners often deal with the same cohorts of offenders; but throughout the 
Review, we heard that sharing data can be difficult and inconsistent. We therefore 
propose to take steps to support a more data-confident culture by issuing new 
central guidance, supported by examples of local good practice and bolstering the 
ability of PCCs to more confidently use this information. These steps will help PCCs 
to better understand how effectively and efficiently their police force is operating 
within the wider criminal justice landscape.

Page 32



If we are to strengthen and expand the role of PCCs in this way, this must be 
balanced by robust accountability to the public. We are taking further steps to 
strengthen the checks and balances on PCCs.

To help ensure there is effective local scrutiny: We want to see police and crime 
panels acting as critical friends, helping the public to understand how their PCC is 
doing on the issues that matter to them. The Review found that independent 
members on panels were important, bringing relevant skills, expertise and greater 
diversity; so we will therefore focus on improving their recruitment and retention. We 
will also look at whether a regional model of panel support could improve the 
professionalism, quality and consistency of the support provided to panels.

To help ensure the public can complain about their PCC if needed and trust that their 
complaint will be handled fairly and consistently: Police and Crime Commissioners 
are elected representatives, held to account to the public via the ballot box. The 
Home Office will further consider the processes for how complaints of criminal 
misconduct are handled, and the scope to align a new code of conduct with the 
regime for mayors and councillors in local government. This will also consider how to 
address the problems of vexatious and political motivated complaints, especially 
those which stem from disagreements with the political views of the Commissioner, 
or complaints which are nothing to do with policing.

The public, rightly, expect PCCs to behave appropriately and act with integrity. That 
is why there is already a high bar in place for PCC conduct. Having explored the 
options for introducing recall, the Review has not recommended doing so, given the 
stringent disqualification rules in place for PCCs. I will keep this matter under review.

Now that this two-Part Review has concluded, my department will work with our 
partners to deliver the recommendations, including legislating where necessary, and 
when parliamentary time allows.

I would like to put on the record my thanks to the Advisory Group which supported 
this Review, comprising senior external stakeholders with expertise in the policing 
and criminal justice sector.

I am confident that, as a package, our recommendations will better equip PCCs to 
reduce crime and protect the public, solidify their position within the criminal justice 
system and make it easier for the public to hold PCCs to account.

Page 33



Annex A – Police and Crime Commissioner Review (PCC) Review Part Two: 
Recommendations 

Part Two of the PCC Review provided an opportunity to ensure that PCCs have the 
ability to work across the Criminal Justice System to cut crime, drugs misuse and 
antisocial behaviour, whilst continuing to strengthen their accountability to the public. 
The full list of the recommendations from Part Two is below. Any recommendations 
that require primary legislation will be implemented when parliamentary time allows. 

Offender Management 
We want to see greater PCC involvement in the management of offenders and to 
improve how PCCs and the Probation Service work together, given their shared 
priorities. The Home Office will therefore: 
 Legislate to introduce a new reciprocal duty for PCCs and Regional Probation 

Directors to consult one another when developing priorities for their Policing 
and Crime Plans and Regional Reducing Reoffending Plans respectively, and 
to introduce a duty for them to collaborate, where appropriate. 

 Work with the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners (APCC) and 
Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS) to develop guidance on 
the co-commissioning of services by Regional Probation Directors and PCCs. 

 Encourage HMPPS and the APCC develop a memorandum of understanding 
on the relevant data to support the reduction of reoffending, to provide 
confidence in local data sharing. 

 Work with the Ministry of Justice and HMPPS to produce guidance on the 
PCC role in unpaid work, including how they work with Community Safety 
Partnerships (CSPs) to canvass community views on opportunities for unpaid 
work. This builds on the new statutory duty being placed on the Probation 
Service through the Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Bill to consult 
PCCs when designing and delivering unpaid work schemes. 

Crime and Justice Partnerships 
We want to give PCCs the levers to bring together criminal justice partners to 
effectively tackle crime, antisocial behaviour (ASB) and drugs misuse. Therefore, the 
Home Office will: 
 Work with the Ministry of Justice and other criminal justice partners that sit on 

Local Criminal Justice Boards (LCJBs) to develop options for legislation to put 
these boards on a statutory footing. This will include defining the role of the 
PCC as Chair and setting out the expected membership (including the Crown 
Prosecution Service, Her Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service and the 
Probation Service). We will do this in a way which fully respects and 
recognises the independence of these partners. To underpin this, the Home 
Office will work with the Ministry of Justice to strengthen supporting guidance 
on LCJBs. 

 Update the existing Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) guidance to provide 
greater clarity on the role of the PCC within the VRU, including the role they 
should play in chairing the VRU governance board and providing strategic 
direction. This 

Page 34



 guidance should also recommend the identification of a dedicated VRU liaison 
officer within the office of the PCC. 

 Consider moving away from one-year funding cycles for VRU towards multi-
year funding following the 2022/23 Spending Review. Longer-term funding 
certainty could allow greater development of preventative strategies and instill 
greater confidence in partners around the longevity of VRUs. 

 Undertake a full review of CSPs to initially improve their transparency, 
accountability, and effectiveness, before assessing their position within the 
wider landscape of local partnerships across England and Wales. 

 Through the review of CSPs, consider introducing a new duty for CSPs to 
report on local ASB strategy and delivery to PCCs and legislating to set out 
the PCC role in the ASB Community Trigger process. 

 Amend the core PCC guidance (in development following Part One of the 
Review) and share existing good practice to help PCCs understand how they 
can leverage strong local partnerships to tackle drug misuse and supply, in 
conjunction with the APCC and National Police Chiefs’ Council. 

 Clarify the existing legislation on PCC representation on local government 
committees, in order to facilitate greater collaboration between PCCs, local 
government leaders (including combined authority mayors) and Local 
Enterprise Partnerships. To support this, the Home Office will develop 
guidance to help facilitate closer engagement between PCCs and those 
charged with responsibility for economic regeneration within the core PCC 
guidance. 

Public Confidence 
We want to help PCCs to work with their local communities to foster greater public 
confidence in the police. The Home Office will: 
 Encourage the College of Policing to work with the APCC to assess what 

enables PCCs to build public confidence and engage communities, 
highlighting what works, and include this evidence within the ‘what works’ 
compendium (a recommendation from Part One of the PCC Review). 

 Amend the core PCC Guidance to reflect the PCC role in securing and 
maintaining public confidence in policing and tackling crime and anti-social 
behaviour. The guidance will outline the importance of, and provide advice on, 
the PCC’s role in holding the Chief Constable to account for their 
responsibility to understand and act to build public confidence. We will also 
set out how PCCs should reach out and engage diverse communities across 
their local area, in order to help close the confidence gap. 

Data 
Data sharing between PCCs and criminal justice agencies can be difficult and 
inconsistent, acting as a barrier to agencies tackling local issues collectively and 
blocking PCCs from assessing the performance of their local force within the criminal 
justice landscape. To remove these barriers, the Home Office will: 
 Support PCCs to secure effective policing in their area by working with Her 

Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS) 

Page 35



 and wider criminal justice partners to improve the quality of, and PCC access 
to, performance information against the National Crime and Policing 
Measures. 

 Support PCCs to secure an efficient police force in their area by working with 
HMICFRS and the wider policing sector to develop a police efficiency dataset 
and improve their ability to interpret differences between forces to help drive 
efficiencies. 

 Support the College of Policing to hold regular learning and development 
events that support the development of analytical capability and data literacy 
within PCCs’ offices. 

 Work with the Ministry of Justice, the Information Commissioner’s Office, and 
other criminal justice partners to develop national guidance on data sharing 
between criminal justice partners, including PCCs. At a local level, this will be 
reinforced by work led by the APCC and supported by the Home Office and 
Ministry of Justice, to bring together good practice examples of local data 
sharing. These examples will be used by the APCC and the Government to 
develop a template memorandum of understanding for local data sharing 
between local partners. 

Police and Crime Panels 
We want to ensure that PCCs are scrutinised effectively and consistently on behalf 
of their communities, by driving up the standard of scrutiny applied to them by Police 
and Crime Panels. To make these improvements, the Home Office will: 
 Work with the Local Government Association (LGA) and the Welsh LGA 

(WLGA) to improve the process for recruiting and retaining independent 
members, to build upon the knowledge and expertise that independent 
members bring to panels, help boost interest in the role and enhance the 
calibre and diversity of those individuals. 

 Work with the LGA and WLGA to develop and assess options for how a 
regional panel support secretariat could work within the existing grant funding 
envelope, to improve professionalism, quality and consistency of support and 
research for panels by support officers. 

Complaints 
It is important that the public can complain about their PCC if needed and know that 
their complaint will be handled effectively and consistently. The Home Office will 
further consider the processes for how complaints of criminal misconduct are 
handled, and the scope to align a new code of conduct with the regime for mayors 
and councillors in local government. This will also consider how to address the 
problems of vexatious and political motivated complaints, especially those which 
stem from disagreements with the political views of the Commissioner, or complaints 
which are nothing to do with policing.

Page 36



 

Gloucestershire Police & Crime Panel 

Report of the Chief Executive 

25 March 2022 
 

 
This is my report to the Police and Crime Panel on the activities of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Office. It is intended to assist the Panel in reviewing and scrutinising 
decisions made and actions taken by the Commissioner, in accordance with its statutory 
responsibilities. 
 
1. Decisions 
 
1.1 Decisions can be found via the following link: https://www.gloucestershire-

pcc.gov.uk/reports/#1553690542293-de831160-ec96  
 

2. Complaints and Freedom of Information Act requests 
 

2.1 As requested by the Panel members, there is a separate agenda item covering 
complaints.  Freedom of Information Act requests have also been included in this 
separate report. 

 
3. Performance overview 
 
3.1 The latest publically available performance summaries are now available via the 

Office of National Statistics here.  The data set, which contains information including 
police recorded crime by offence groups, rates and volumes, covers the period up 
until the end of September 2021.  Unfortunately, data relating to anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) is not available in this report.  ASB data up to the end of March 2021 is available 
however on the ONS website.   
 

3.2 We are unfortunately unable to share more recent data available to the OPCC and 
Constabulary in accordance with conditions of use for the systems available. As such, 
the information below relates to publically available data via the ONS only. 
 

3.3 For comparative purposes, Gloucestershire is compared to 
a group of forces that are deemed most similar 
demographically.  These are shown in the map to the 
right and listed below: 

 

 Cambridgeshire 

 Devon & Cornwall 

 Gloucestershire 

 North Yorkshire 

 Suffolk 

 Warwickshire 

 West Mercia 

 Wiltshire 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/reports/#1553690542293-de831160-ec96
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/reports/#1553690542293-de831160-ec96
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/policeforceareadatatables


3.4 The charts below compares rates per 1000 population by offence group (South West 
comparisons are for information only): 
 

 
 

 
 

3.5 The charts show that Gloucestershire has lower rates of overall crime (63.1 crime per 
1000 population) than the national average (82.4) however, slightly higher than the 
MSG (60.2).  Violence against the person is the volume crime for all areas with 
Gloucestershire again seeing lower rates (26.3) compared to England and Wales 
(32.3) but slightly higher than the MSG average (25.1).   
 

3.6 Rates of sexual offences rates in Gloucestershire is in line with peers as are robbery, 
drugs offences, possession of weapons and public order offences.  Theft offences 
and criminal damage are slightly higher however.   
 

3.7 The chart below shows the percentage changes by offence group comparing the year 
ending September 2021 to the previous year: 

Page 38



 
 

3.8 This chart shows that overall crime has increased marginally in Gloucestershire which 
is not in line with peers.  The largest increases are evident in violence against the 
person and sexual offences which was to be expected (and previously explained to 
the Panel) with the remedial Crime Data Integrity work underway in the Constabulary.   
 

3.9 Theft offences are showing the largest decrease in this period (-20%).  This category 
includes burglary (-26% in Gloucestershire), vehicle offences (-27%), theft from the 
person (-23%), bicycle theft (-39%) and shoplifting (-11%). 
 

3.10 The chart below details the percentage of offences within a specified category of 
offences in Gloucestershire involving a knife or sharp instrument:  
 

 
 

3.11 This chart shows that the proportion of offences where a knife is used (within a 
specified category of offences – not all crime) in Gloucestershire is in line with peers 
albeit with a reduction in the final time period shown.  For information, the offences 

Page 39



included in this category and number / percentage of offences where a knife or sharp 
instrument was used is shown in the table below: 

 
Offences recorded by the police where a knife / sharp instrument was used 

Incident type 

Number recorded by 
the police in the 12 

months up to 
September 2021 

Percentage of these 
offences that 

involved a knife or 
sharp instrument 

Attempted murder 4 less than 0% 

Threats to kill 41 10% 

Assault with injury with intent to 
cause serious harm 

127 2% 

Robbery 2 17% 

Rape and sexual assault 4 less than 0% 

Homicide 2 less than 0% 

 
3.12 As reported to the Panel previously, the Home Office has recently introduced a new 

range of measures called that National Crime and Policing Measures (NCPM).  These 
draw on a range of data sources to provide an indication of how well police and 
partners are performing in tackling crime and disorder in their areas.  The measures 
contained in the NCPM are: 
 

National Crime & Policing Measures 

Priority area National metrics Data source 

Reduce murder 
and other homicide 

Homicide Police recorded 

Reduce serious 
violence 

Hospital admissions of under 25s for 
assault with a sharp object 

NHS 

Offences involving discharge of a 
firearm 

Police recorded 

Disrupt supply and 
county lines 

Drug related homicides Police recorded 

Police referrals into drug treatment Public Health England 

Reduce 
neighbourhood 
crime 

Burglary, robbery, theft of and from a 
vehicle, theft from a person 

CSEW1 

Improve 
satisfaction among 
victims, with a 
Particular focus on 
victims of domestic 
abuse 

Satisfaction with police among victims 
of domestic abuse 

CSEW 

Victim satisfaction with the police CSEW 

Tackle cyber crime 

Confidence in the law enforcement 
response to cyber crime 

Department for Digital, 
Culture, Media and 
Sport survey 

Percentage of businesses 
experiencing a cyber-breach or attack 

 
3.13 In order to assess the performance of a force area relative to performance in England 

and Wales, the Home Office has recently developed the Digital Crime and 
Performance Pack (DCPP).  Unfortunately we are unable to share data directly from 
the tool however due to terms of use.  We are able however to provide a summary of 
performance according to the tool.  The table below provides a summary of the 
information currently available via the DCPP for the Panel: 

                                            
1 Crime Survey of England and Wales 

Page 40



 

DPCC performance assessment  

Offence type / 
category 

Data 
source 

Summary of performance  

Homicide Police 
recorded 
crime 

 Date range: 01/01/16 – 30/09/21 

 Assessment of Gloucestershire overall 
performance: Green, meaning Gloucestershire is 
performing in line with peers 

 Assessment of homicides with female victims: 
Amber, meaning Gloucestershire has marginally 
higher rates of female victims compared to peers 

 Assessment of domestic related homicides: Amber, 
meaning Gloucestershire has marginally higher 
rates of domestic homicides compared to peers  

Neighbourhood 
crime  

Police 
recorded 
crime 

 Date range: 12 months up to December 2021 
compared to the NCPM baseline year (Jul 2019 – 
June 2019) 

 Gloucestershire has the largest decrease in crime 
in MSG with 44% reduction (lowest = -35% / 
highest = -44%) 

 6/8 in MSG for rates per 1000 population in 
December 2021 

Neighbourhood 
crime – 
burglary 

Police 
recorded 
crime 

 Date range: as above 

 41% decrease in crime / 3/8 lowest decrease in 
MSG (lowest = -36% / highest = -56%) 

 8/8 in MSG for rates per 1000 population in 
December 2021 

Neighbourhood 
crime - robbery 

Police 
recorded 
crime 

 Date range: as above 

 3% decrease in crime / 1/8 lowest decrease in 
MSG (lowest = -3% / highest = -52%) 

 5/8 in MSG for rates per 1000 population in 
December 2021 

Neighbourhood 
crime – theft 

Police 
recorded 
crime 

 Date range: as above 

 41% decrease in crime / 2/8 lowest decrease in 
MSG (lowest = -38% / highest = -62%) 

 8/8 in MSG for rates per 1000 population in 
December 2021 

Neighbourhood 
crime – vehicle 
crime 

Police 
recorded 
crime 

 Date range: as above 

 50% decrease in crime / highest decrease in MSG 
(lowest = -28% / highest = -50%) 

 6/8 in MSG for rates per 1000 population in 
December 2021 

 
4. Budget Update 

 
4.1 The original budget for the current year was reported to the Panel on 8 February 

2021. The budget included a requirement to achieve savings of £1.4m before the end 
of the financial year (2021/22). Whilst we are not yet at the end of the financial year 
the latest budget monitoring report shows that this target has been exceeded.  

 
4.2 The position at the end of January 2022 indicates that by the year end there is likely 

to be a saving on the original budget approaching £1m in addition to having delivered 
the £1.4m. This represents a very significant achievement and is the result of 

Page 41



significant work undertaken by both the Constabulary and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner during the course of the year.  

 
4.3 Whilst there is no single factor that has resulted in the vastly improved position, the 

overriding benefit has been delivered by the PCC and Chief Constable working 
together to place detailed scrutiny on the budget, rationalising contingencies, 
maximising the use of external grants and implementing a regime of tighter budgetary 
and establishment control and monitoring. 

 
4.4 Whilst it will be some time before the final figures for the year are reported they should 

be in line with the latest forecast. This should enable the reserves to be restored in 
line with national guidance and provides a solid foundation for the next financial year. 

 
4.5 The original capital programme for the year was set at £12m.  However, £3.6m was 

brought forward from 2020/21 and then significant additional and urgent investment 
in ICT was approved taking the total programme for the year to over £17.5m. 
 

4.6 Unfortunately there have been significant problems in the global supply chains which 
have increased as a result of Covid and the war in Ukraine. The principal delays are 
within IT and vehicle procurement.  Both areas have been risk assessed to ensure 
there where there is operational impact it is understood and mitigated and the position 
will continue to be monitored. It is likely that £5m of the total budget will need to be 
carried forward into the next financial year as a result of these procurement delays. 

 
5. Funding applications 
 
5.1 In line with the Police and Crime Prevention Plan priority Strengthening Your 

Constabulary, the Commissioner has stated his intention to pursue as many funding 
opportunities as possible to help reduce crime and disorder across the county.  As 
reported at the previous Panel meeting in February 2022, the OPCC and 
Constabulary have had a number of successes since the PCC was elected into office 
as sown in the table below: 
 

Successful funding applications  

Source of funding 
Amount awarded 
to Gloucestershire 

Safer Streets Round 3 £1,061,478 

Safer Streets Round 3 additional £42,225 

STAR developing safety app to promote VIAWG £148,800 

Roads Policing Research £500,000 

ANPR Roads Project £175,000 

Salix grant funding for environmental improvements to the estate £1,329,000 

Special Police Services (Income from other police services) £750,000 

Total £4,006,503 

 
5.2 The OPCC is currently working on a number of additional funding opportunities in 

conjunction with partners in the Constabulary and across the county.  These are 
summarised in the table below: 
 

Page 42



Current OPCC bidding activity  

Source of 
funding 

Amount 
available per 
bid 

Details  

Youth 
Endowment 
Fund (YEF) 
 
Deadline: 
21/03/22 

£1m over three 
years 

 Funding available for three to five sites across 
E&W, projects funded for 3 years 

 Projects required to provide £200k in kind over 
lifetime of project 

 Partners to include police, social support, 
community partners 

 To target identified serious youth problem with a 
group dynamic 

Science, 
Technology, 
Analysis, 
and 
Research 
(STAR) 
 
Deadline: 
08/04/22 

Up to £3m is 
available with 
the exact value 
depending on 
the most 
effective 
balance of 
strategic and 
local 
investments 

 Supports both strategic investments and local 
projects that have the potential to improve policing 
locally and nationally 

 Funding for all types of activity, of any duration, so 
long as:  
1. the work is completed and money accounted for 

in the 22/23 financial year; and  
2. the work develops science, technology, analysis 

and/or research in policing. 

Police 
Academic 
Partnership 
Funding 
(PAPF) 
 
Deadline: 
03/05/22 

£50k funding 
for 12 month 
project 

 Opportunity offers UK‐based academics the 
opportunity to work in partnership with local police 
constabularies, agencies and stakeholders to tackle 
Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG) in 
specific locations. 

 Funding to establish new or grow existing multi‐
agency local partnerships and is designed to 
support partnerships in undertaking networking, 

knowledge exchange and research co‐design 
activities to tackle key themes relating to VAWG. 

Safer 
Streets 
Fund 
Round 4 
(SSF4) 
 
Deadline: 
13/05/22 

Four bids per 
PCC area with 
a maximum of 
£500k per bid  

 Confirmed funding up until 2024/25 with a move to 
an 18month cycle 

 Primary focuses include: neighbourhood crime 
(burglary, robbery, vehicle crime and theft), anti-
social behaviour and violence against women and 
girls in public places (e.g. street harassment, rape, 
sexual assault, stalking).  

 Bidders should highlight where interventions are 
expected to have secondary impacts on other crime 
types, such as wider acquisitive crime or serious 
violence.  

 Mandatory matched funding requirement - for every 
£2 the Government puts in, lead bidders will need to 
contribute £1 however matched funding can be 
provided as money or met through in-kind 
contributions, e.g. staff/police officer time, volunteer 
time or resources.  

 PCCs to prioritise bids for their area.  

Total potential funding available (excluding STAR 
which has no upper limit):  

£3,550,000 

 
5.3 YEF: The OPCC is currently working with the Constabulary and partners to submit a 

bid to focus on youth support in Gloucester City.  The funding is to target a specific 

Page 43



group known to be at risk of serious youth violence, their close and wider associates. 
As Gloucestershire does not qualify for Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) funding, it was 
initially thought that Gloucestershire may not be eligible for this funding however, after 
discussions with the funding providers, it was agreed that the Constabulary and 
OPCC should submit an application. 
 

5.4 STAR: Applications for funding from STAR will be submitted by the Constabulary.  
Initial discussions with the OPCC include the opportunity to support of frontline 
policing as well as road safety.   
 

5.5 PAPF: The OPCC, Constabulary and University of Gloucestershire are working in 
partnership to develop and submit an application for this funding.  Early discussions 
have been centred on research to explore victim attrition rates. 
 

5.6 SSF4: The OPCC has hosted an initial meeting with partners to discuss submitting 
four bids to SSF4 for the county.  Themes for the bids that have been agreed are: 

 

 Residential burglary particularly in rural areas including a focus on victims and 
target hardening 

 Tacking anti-social behaviour across the county 

 A county-wide bid tackling VAWG with a focus on stalking and teenager / online 
consent 

 VAWG linked to the night-time economy in Cheltenham and Gloucester 
 

5.7 Updates will be provided at future Panel meetings. 
 
6. OPCC Staff update  
 
6.1 Since last reported, there has been a number of staff changes in the OPCC.  

Wherever possible, these developments have been funded within existing budgets or 
in support of partnership activity and therefore co-funded.  
 

6.2 The current OPCC staff structure is shown below:

Page 44



 
 
 

 

P
age 45



6.3 In autumn 2021 we were joined by Georgia Baker as our Communication and 
Engagement Intern.  The OPCC has a strong record of internships and is proud to 
have supported many young people at the start of their career.  Georgia studied 
Sports Journalism for her degree and also gained a Master’s degree in PR, 
Communications and the Media at the University of Gloucestershire.   
 

6.4 Since joining the team she has already been involved in a number of campaigns and 
can be heard on a recent video about the Constabulary’s green credentials which can 
be found here.  

 
6.5 In January 2022, Research and Information Officer Frankie Last left the OPCC to join 

the Constabulary as a trainee Police Constable.  Frankie worked with the OPCC for 
two years and carried out a range of functions including conducting a number of 
pieces of research within the Constabulary on behalf of the PCC and supporting with 
the administration of the Local Criminal Justice Board and sub-groups.   
 

6.6 Rather than recruit to replace the vacant Research and Information Office post, an 
additional Finance and Administration post has been developed and recruited to.  
Interviews for this post were held in February and the successful applicant is currently 
going through vetting. 
 

6.7 Also in January, Debbie Powell joined the OPCC as Safer Gloucestershire 
Coordinator.  This is a co-funded post among Safer Gloucestershire (SG) partners 
was originally intended to be two days a week.  In light of the priority placed on SG 
however, we opted to increase the OPCC funding to create a full time post.   
 

6.8 Debbie comes to the OPCC with a raft of experience including supporting the 
strategic development of the Forest of Dean CSP, as a Community Engagement 
Officer and work with the Welsh Government which included person-centred 
approaches to social care.  Before joining the OPCC she worked within the 
Constabulary’s Criminal Justice Department which included working on the 
development and expansion of the Community Speedwatch scheme alongside local 
communities. 
 

6.9 In November 2021 Kevin McCloskey left the OPCC as the Independent Review 
Officer (IRO).  Kevin was the first person in the OPCC to hold this position following 
the mandating of complaints reviews functions to be carried out by the PCC as per 
the Policing and Crime Act 2017.   
 

6.10 In his time with the OPCC, Kevin helped develop the processes and practicalities of 
handing complaints reviews, developed a network of IROs across the South West 
and acted as liaison officer between the OPCC and the Independent Office of Police 
Contact (IOPC) among other duties.  These processes and practices have been 
noted by the IOPC as best practice in recent conversation with the PCC. 
 

6.11 Kevin is replaced by Nadina Farley-Turner who joined the OPCC in February 2022.  
Nadina joins us from the Constabulary Criminal Justice Department and from the 
team that manages the prosecution of driving offences.  She is a qualified solicitor 
and former prosecutor for the Crown Prosecution Service and we are thrilled to now 
have her as part of the team. 
 

Page 46

https://fb.watch/bI5Wle6p5r/


6.12 In March the OPCC was joined by two new members of the team to two new posts.  
Firstly we welcomed Sarah Mashiter as our Senior Analyst and secondly, Til’Shiloh 
Shaw as the South West Policy Officer. 
 

6.13 Sarah joins us from the Constabulary where she has had a number of roles including 
providing analytical support to the Major Crime Investigation Team and as a Planning 
Officer within the Analysis Research and Planning Team.  Her role in the OPCC will 
include monitoring performance on behalf of the PCC, supporting the Safer 
Gloucestershire and Local Criminal Justice Board partnerships, contributing to 
bidding processes and supporting in the development and monitoring of contacts. 
 

6.14 Til’Shiloh joins us from a similar role in West Midlands and will support the five PCCs 
in the South West region to develop and deliver joint working.  The post is co-funded 
across the region and hosted by Gloucestershire.  All OPCCs and PCCs in the region 
are thrilled to have Til’Shiloh as part of the team and look forward to exploring more 
opportunities for working better together.  
 

6.15 The OPCC will be hosting a new joint role with Gloucestershire County Council with 
the aim of ensuring the voices of survivors of domestic abuse and sexual violence 
are listened to and acted on in the development of policy and strategy.  The DA/SV 
Consultation Officer is currently going through vetting and will hopefully join the 
OPCC in May. 
 

6.16 Finally, it is with sadness that we received notification that our Policy Officer Amanda 
Segelov will be leaving us soon.  Amanda has worked with the OPCC for a number 
of years starting as PA to the Chief Executive and Head of Public Affairs and later 
becoming Policy Officer for Criminal Justice.   
 

6.17 Since 2020 Amanda has been seconded to Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation 
Service working on national projects including the Criminal Justice matters linked to 
the PCC Review.  She will leave Gloucestershire OPCC with a strong legacy but we 
wish her well in her new role with a national charity working that supports prison 
leavers and their reintegration into wider society.  
 

6.18 For more information about the OPCC, please go to our In Tandem newsletter which 
can be found here.  

 
7. The Commissioner’s Fund 
 
7.1 The Commissioner’s Fund supports activity towards the delivery of the Police and 

Crime Prevention Plan priorities, in the knowledge that the Police cannot reduce 
crime on their own.  More widely, the plan promotes connecting communities with a 
view to the police and public utilising their collective assets and working together to 
bring about changes that will make life better and make communities feel safer. 
 

7.2 In January we were pleased to invite community groups, voluntary and public sector 
organisations to apply for grants (up to £5,000 per year for a maximum of two years) 
to support neighbourhoods and communities working with the Police, to support 
delivery of the Police and Crime Prevention Plan and make Gloucestershire an even 
safer place to live, work and visit. 
 

Page 47

file:///C:/Users/243195/Downloads/In-Tandem-Dec-21.pdf


7.3 The following information is taken from our website and explains more about our 
eligibility criteria for the funding: 
 

 
 
7.1 The deadline for applications was 16 February 2022 and 80 applications have been 

received in total for this round, with the following breakdown for location: 
 

 Cheltenham: 7 

 Cotswolds: 9 

 Forest of Dean:  7 

 Gloucester: 17 

 Stroud: 13 

 Tewkesbury: 3 

 More than one location / Countywide: 24 
 

7.2 As part of the scoring process, each application is checked by the Commissioning 
Team to see whether it is suitable and meets the Fund’s minimum criteria. Feedback 
and funding recommendations are sought from relevant local Police Inspectors and 
any experts within the organisation, as well as external partners. The relevant 
individuals provide critical feedback and any areas of concern they may have. The 
applications are then considered by the OPCC internal advisory panel, before being 
presented to the PCC for his final decision 
 

7.3 Decision announcements are due in end of March with the successful projects 
expected to start in April 2022. 

 
8. Estate 
 

8.1 As reported at previous Panel meetings, redevelopment is underway at 

Constabulary’s Operations base at Bamfurlong. The site’s location (next to Junction 

11 of the M5 and near other key arterial routes, as well as being so close to 

Cheltenham and Gloucester), means it was always somewhere we wanted to stay. 

However, the condition of some of the buildings (which date back to the 1970s) was 

poor and not conducive to a pleasant working environment.   

 

Page 48

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/the-commissioners-fund-2022-23/


8.2 This redevelopment will not only improve the service the Constabulary is able to 

provide to the public and enhance the wellbeing of officers and staff, but will also 

support our greener aspirations by using a brownfield site and reducing 

environmental impact.  
 

8.3 Staff who are currently relocated across the Constabulary estate are expected to 

return to the Bamfurlong site from the summer of 2022.   
 

8.4 The photos below provide the Panel with a visual guide as to the progress of the 

work: 
 

 
 

Bamfurlong redevelopment: 

Main building August 2021 

 
 

Bamfurlong redevelopment: 

Main building November 2021 

 
 

Bamfurlong redevelopment: 

Main building internal works 

November 2021 

Page 49



 

Bamfurlong redevelopment: 

Main building February 2022 

 

 
Richard Bradley 
Chief Executive 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire 
March 2022 
 
 

Page 50



 

Gloucestershire Police & Crime Panel 
Gloucestershire Police and Crime Commissioner 
and Chief Constable’s Joint Audit Committee 

25 March 2022 

 
 

What is the Committee? 
 
There is a legal requirement for every Constabulary to appoint an Audit Committee. It is 
independent of the operations and administration of the Constabulary and is thus able to 
take unbiased views. The Committee is non-political and members are vetted in the same 
way as other employees of the Constabulary. Members are paid an Attendance Allowance 
for each meeting. 
 
The Gloucestershire Committee has three members; these are appointed by the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable after an interview process. All vacancies are 
advertised. One of the three members is appointed Chair. 
 
The Committee meets five times per annum. Meetings are not open to the public. The 
Chief Constable or his Deputy will usually attend, as will the Chief Executive of the OPCC. 
 
What is the Committee’s role? 
 
The Committee’s main role is to consider risks to the Constabulary, particularly financial 
and finance–related risks. The Committee has no executive role – it can only advise. 
 
 
How does the Committee fulfil its role? 
 
The Committee receives regular reports from the Constabulary’s External and Internal 
Auditors, and from the Head of Risk. The Committee also receives reports from other 
bodies, for example Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary. 
 
The Chief Financial Officer presents each year’s final accounts to the Committee. The 
external auditors later report their opinion on the accounts to the Committee. 
 
The Internal Auditors present their risk-based proposed programme of work to the 
Committee each year. Reports on each audit are presented to the Committee throughout 
the year, and discussions held around any issues raised.  
 
The Committee follows up audit and other recommendations (e.g. Inspectorate) by asking 
officers to report on the stage of implementation. Members will raise items of concern at 
the Committee, and responsible officers will attend to address issues raised. 
 
In addition the committee will meet twice a year with the Chief Constable and Police and 
Crime Commissioner to hear their views on the performance of the force, their key issues 
and concerns and their plans for the year ahead and longer term vision.  
 
 
The terms of reference for the Joint Audit Committee is included for information as an 
annex to this report. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



 

ANNEX 

 
Joint Independent Audit Committee – Terms of Reference 

 
Statement of Purpose 
 

 The Joint Independent Audit Committee is a key component of the PCC and Chief 
Constable’s arrangements for corporate governance.  It provides an independent and 
high-level focus on the audit, assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin 
good governance and financial standards. 

 

 The purpose of the Committee is to provide independent assurance to the PCC and 
the Chief Constable regarding the adequacy of the risk management framework and 
the associated control environment within Gloucestershire Constabulary and the Office 
of the PCC. It will consider the internal and external audit reports of both the PCC and 
Chief Constable and advise both parties according to good governance principles. It 
has oversight of general governance matters and provides comment on any new or 
amended PCC polices and strategies with regard to financial risk and probity. 

 

 These principles summarise the core functions of the Committee in relation to the 
Office of the PCC and the Force and describe the protocols in place to enable it to 
operate independently, robustly and effectively. 

 
The Committee has a direct line of report to the PCC and the Chief Constable. 
 
Committee Composition and Structure 
 
The Committee will consist of three members who are independent of the PCC and 
Gloucestershire Constabulary. They are appointed by the Chief Constable and the PCC 
(or their representatives). 
 
The Chairman will be elected by the Committee on an annual basis. 
 
The Committee will hold four formal meetings a year although there may be a requirement 
to hold additional meetings at short notice.  
 
The PCC and Chief Constable will attend or be appropriately represented at formal 
meetings. The core membership and attendance at the committee will be; 
 

 Audit Committee Members (3) 

 Chief Constables Chief Finance Officer 

 Police and Crime Commissioners Chief Finance Officer 

 Representative of South West Audit Partnership 

 Representative of External Audit 

 Head of Governance and Compliance  

 Head of Finance 
 
In addition the following will have an open invitation to attend the meeting: 
 

 Chief Constable (or Representative) 

 Police and Crime Commissioner (Or Representative) 

Page 52



 Police and Crime Commissioner Chief Executive 
 
 
Committee meetings will be held at key strategic times of the year to coincide with the 
budget process and publication of financial management reports and accounts: 
 

1. To consider the Internal Auditor’s Internal Audit Plan and the External Audit Plan 
2. To consider the End of Year Reports, the Annual Governance Statement, Annual 

Statement of Accounts and to receive the Audit Results report 
3. To consider mid-year progress reports; 
4. To receive the Annual External Audit Letter and agree the Annual Assurance 

Report of the Committee. 
5. To Consider the following draft strategies; 

 Treasury management, 

 Reserves, 

 Capital. 
 
The minutes of the meeting will be reported to the Finance Panel. 
 
The PCC and Chief Constable (or their representatives) may ask the committee to 
consider other issues where it is considered that the committee could add value. 
 
The agenda, reports and minutes of all Committee meetings will be published on the PCC 
and Constabulary websites except when it is likely that confidential information will be 
disclosed.  Confidential information is defined as: 
 

a) Information furnished to the Committee by a Government department upon terms 
(however expressed) which forbid the disclosure of the information to the public; 
and 

 
b) Information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under any 

enactment or by the order of a Court.   
 
c) Information relating to work that has yet to be finalised where its publication may be 

considered prejudicial to the final outcome. 
 
Methods of Working 
 
The Committee will: 
 

 Advise the PCC and Chief Constable on good governance principles 

 Adopt appropriate risk management arrangements 

 Provide robust and constructive challenge 

 Take account of relevant corporate social responsibility factors when challenging and 
advising the PCC and Chief Constable (such as value for money, diversity, equality 
and health and safety)  

 Be regularly briefed by the Chief Constable and PCC on the full range of activities 
falling within its specific responsibilities  

 Attend any training and conference events that will ensure members are kept up to 
date with the policing landscape and audit requirements 

 Provide an annual assurance report to the PCC and Chief Constable 
 
Specific responsibilities 

Page 53



 
The Committee has the following specific responsibilities: 
 
Financial Management and Reporting 
 

 Provide assurance to the PCC and Chief Constable regarding the adequacy of the 
arrangements, capacity and capability available to their respective chief finance officers 
to ensure the proper administration of the Commissioner’s and Force’s financial affairs. 

 Review the Annual Statement of Accounts.  Specifically, to consider whether 
appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns 
arising from the financial statements or from the audit of the financial statements that 
need to be brought to the attention of the PCC and/or the Chief Constable. 

 Consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on issues 
arising from the audit of the financial statements, and to give advice and make such 
recommendations on the adequacy of the level of assurance and on improvement as it 
considers appropriate. 

 
Internal Control and Governance Environment 
 

 Consider and endorse the local Code of Corporate Governance 

 Consider and endorse the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 

 Monitor implementation and delivery of the AGS Action Plan 

 Consider the arrangements to secure value for money and review assurances and 
assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements 

 Consider and comment upon the adequacy and effectiveness of the assurance 
framework, and the specific governance and accountability polices, systems and 
controls in place, such as the Corporate Governance Framework; anti-fraud and 
corruption; whistle-blowing, declarations of interest and gifts and hospitality. 

 Review arrangements for the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm from fraud 
and corruption and monitor the effectiveness of the counter fraud strategy, actions and 
resources 

 To consider the governance and assurance arrangements for significant partnerships 
or collaborations 

 
Corporate Risk Management 
 
Consider and comment upon the strategic risk management processes; and 
Receive and consider assurances that organisational risks are being managed effectively 
and that published goals and objectives will be achieved efficiently and economically, 
making recommendations as necessary 
 
Business Continuity Management 
 

 Consider and comment upon business continuity management processes, and 

 Receive and consider assurances that business continuity is being managed effectively 
and that published goals and objectives will be achieved efficiently and economically, 
making recommendations as necessary 

 
Internal Audit 
 

 Annually review the internal audit charter and resource 

Page 54



 Receive and consider the adequacy and effectiveness of the arrangements for the 
provision of the internal audit service 

 Consider and comment on the Internal Audit Strategy and Plan 

 Receive and review internal audit reports and monitor progress of implementing agreed 
actions 

 To consider the Head of Internal Audit’s statement on the level of conformance with the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and Local Government Application 
Note (LGAN) and the results of the Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
(QAIP) that support the statement   

 Consider and comment upon the annual report of the Head of Internal Audit 

 Obtain assurance that an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal audit 
function takes place 

 
External Audit 
 

 Receive and review reports from the external auditors, including the annual audit letter 
and audit opinion 

 Review the effectiveness of external audit 

 Consider and comment upon any proposals affecting the provision of the external audit 
service 

 Consider the level of fees charged, and 

 At present TVP participates in the national procurement of external audit services 
through the Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA). However, should the PCC and 
Chief Constable decide that local procurement would be better the Committee would 
undertake the role of the Independent Audit Panel, as set out in the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014, including considering and recommending appropriate 
arrangements for any future appointment of External Auditors 

 
Inspection and Review 
 

 To consider any HMIC report that provides assurance on the internal control 
environment and/or highlights governance issues for the PCC and/or Chief Constable 

 
Accountability Arrangements 
 

 On a timely basis report to the PCC and the Chief Constable with its advice and 
recommendations in relation to any matters that it considers relevant to governance, 
risk management and financial management. 

 Report to the PCC and the Chief Constable on its findings, conclusions and 
recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of their governance, risk 
management and internal control frameworks; financial reporting arrangements and 
internal and external audit functions. 

 On an annual basis to review its performance against its operating principles and 
report the results of this review to the PCC and the Chief Constable. 

 
 
 
 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Gloucestershire Police & Crime Panel 

OPCC contact and complaints report 

25 March 2022 
 

 

Background 
 
Process changes to Police Complaints from 1 February 2020  
 
The Policing and Crime Act 2017 introduced major changes to the police complaints system, 
applied to complaints made on or after 1 February 2020.  The intention behind the new 
system was to create a more simple process that ensures complaints can be dealt with 
quickly and proportionately. The emphasis is on organisational learning and improvement, 
whilst still allowing discipline outcomes where it is found that police officers or staff are guilty 
of serious misconduct. 
 
Police forces are now expected to resolve complaints made about any aspect of policing in 
a reasonable and proportionate way.  If police forces can resolve complaints quickly to the 
satisfaction of the person making them, the new legislation allows this to happen with the 
minimum of bureaucracy. 
 
Complaints should always be directed to the police force to which the complaints relate 
rather than the Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC). If the complaint is serious 
enough, the police force will have to refer the complaint to the IOPC themselves. 
 
Some complaints, and particularly those where allegations of serious misconduct or 
criminality have been made about police officers or staff, will need to be dealt with in a more 
formal way. Complainants can also ask for complaints to be handled more formally and 
complainants can ask for this to happen at any time, even if the police force has already 
used the less formal method of resolving it.  
 
The police force will be expected to resolve these complaints in a reasonable and 
proportionate way too. The police force may refer to these complaints as being handled 
inside or outside Schedule 3 of the Police Reform Act 2002 (as amended by the Policing 
and Crime Act 2017).  
 
The right to review 
 
Complaints handled in this more formal way will have a right of review (formerly called 
appeals prior to the legislation changes).  For complaints where criminality or serious 
misconduct have been alleged, the review will be done by the Independent Office for Police 
Conduct (IOPC). For other complaints, the review will be done by the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s Independent Review Officer.   
 
Complainants must ask for a review to be carried out, however they will be told by the police 
force which organisation to ask. The relevant review body will be named in the letter from 
the police force setting out how the complaint was resolved. 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



The purpose of a review is to assess whether the police force resolved the complaint in a 
reasonable and proportionate way and also to identify any more learning or opportunities for 
improvement. 
 
The outcome of a review could be:  

 confirmation that the complaint was resolved in a reasonable and proportionate way; or  

 a recommendation to the police force for more work to be done to resolve the complaint. 
The recommendation may details of any additional work thought to be needed. 

  
The review body (IOPC or OPCC) will write to the complainant with the outcome of the 
review. 
 
Complaints about the Chief Constable  
 
The legislation in the Policing and Crime Act 2017 also applies to complaints about the Chief 
Constable, but it is the PCC who is responsible for resolving these complaints rather than 
the police force. 
 
Complaints can be resolved in the same ways as complaints about other aspects of policing. 
The Police and Crime Commissioner will be expected to resolve all complaints in a 
reasonable and proportionate manner.  If a complaint is dealt with in the more formal way, 
the review will be done by the IOPC. 
 
  

Contact and Complaints handling by Gloucestershire OPCC 
 
Increased responsibilities for PCCs 
 
The Policing and Crime Act 2017 sought to strengthen the role of Police and Crime 
Commissioners in the complaints process. It introduced new mandatory duties and also 
allowed Commissioners to choose to take over a number of functions which were previously 
the responsibility of the Chief Constable. There were three options for the PCC to consider:  
 

Complaints models for the PCC to consider as per Policing & Crime Act 2017 

Model one: 
Mandatory 

Model two: 
PCC may opt-in 

Model three: 
PCC may opt-in 

 An explicit duty on PCCs in 
relation to the oversight and 
performance of the 
complaints process;  

 PCCs are the body to deal 
with all reviews, previously 
known as appeals and heard 
by the Chief Constable; 

 After considering a review, 
PCCs to recommend how 
the complaint should be 
resolved. Chief Constables 
are expected to co-operate 
with PCCs to achieve a 
satisfactory outcome. 

Model one plus: 

 PCCs can choose to 
receive and record all 
complaints;  

 PCC can resolve low-level 
complaints outside of the 
formal process; 

Models one and two plus: 

 Becoming the single 
point of contact with 
complainants throughout 
the process, other than 
for those currently 
investigated by the IPCC.  

 Formal investigation of 
complaints to remain with 
forces. 

 
 

Page 58



Gloucestershire response 
 
Following the legislative changes, the then PCC opted to adopt model one which led to the 
creation of the Independent review Officer post in the OPCC.  All indications from the current 
PCC are that he is satisfied with this and there are no immediate plans to review this 
decision. 
 
Following the decision to focus on model one only, the Chief Constable opted to develop a 
new team in the Constabulary with the aim to quickly manage those cases that can be 
resolved via service recovery.  The team was based on identified best practice at the time 
from Northumbria OPCC, called the Northumbria ‘triage model’ introduced by Dame Vera 
Baird QC, the then PCC.  It was this model, in fact, that led to the changes brought in by the 
Policing and Crime Act. 
 
The Feedback and Customer Care Team in the Constabulary manages the volume of 
expressions of dissatisfaction made to the Constabulary.  The process it follows is outlined 
below: 
  

 
 
Gloucestershire OPCC’s role in the complaints process 
 
For some considerable time now, Gloucestershire OPCC has triaged, managed (where 
possible and correct to do so) and service recovered complaints and expressions of 
dissatisfaction that are sent into the office or the PCC.  This is not that case in all OPCCs.  
In Gloucestershire however, the OPCC has always wanted to support and respond to issues 
that arise on a case by case basis.  That being said, since the introduction of the Feedback 
and Customer Care Team (FCCT), the OPCC will now, in most cases, pass complaints onto 
the FCCT for management.   
 
If the complaint is of a more serious nature, the OPCC will refer the complainant directly to 
the Professional Standards Department.  In all cases an explanation will be sent to the 
complainant along with a request to transfer the case as per GDPR.  On referral to the 

Page 59

https://www.chroniclelive.co.uk/news/north-east-news/complaints-against-northumbria-police-rise-13645483


Constabulary, the OPCC will always request updates are provided for our case management 
purposes.   
 
Contact and Complaints Officer 
 
The Contact and Complaints Officer in the OPCC manages all contact made to the OPCC 
and will triage the issue to the correct person or department.  She is supported by the 
Finance and Administration Officer and, in turn, supports the Independent Review Officer.  
The Contact and Complaints Officer also manages all Freedom of Information Act requests 
made to the office.   
 
Independent Review Officer 
 
The Independent Review Officer (IRO) will consider appeals against the findings of 
complaints against the police.  The IRO is the final decision maker in relation to complaint 
reviews, acting under delegated authority of the Police and Crime Commissioner.  She 
provides a final opportunity for consideration as to whether a complaint could have been 
handled better at a local level and, where appropriate, to make recommendations to put 
things right.  
 
The purpose of the role is to provide independence, transparency and accountability in the 
handling of police complaints and to increase public confidence and satisfaction with the 
police complaints system. 
 
Development of an ‘Independent Residents’ Panel’ 
 
Under the Empowering Local Communities priority in the new Police and Crime Prevention 
Plan, the PCC outlines his intentions to develop a Residents’ Panel along similar lines to 
Avon & Somerset OPCC: 
 

I am also keen to progress further opportunities for volunteers to support scrutiny such 
as with complaints. Under my leadership my office will develop a panel of local people, 
reflective of our diverse communities, to help review how complaints are managed within 
the Constabulary and OPCC. The panel will assess complaints for efficiency, fairness, 
transparency and service to the public. Their aim will be to ‘act as a critical friend’ by 
providing feedback on completed complaint files to the OPCC and the Constabulary’s 
Professional Standards Department (PSD) to ensure the police maintain a high quality 
approach to complaints which focuses on accountability, transparency and learning.1 

 
The Panel will be developed along similar lines as the Independent Custody Volunteers 
and will involve recruitment, vetting and training.  
 
 

Contact, complaints and Freedom of Information Act requests received 
by the OPCC 

 
The chart below shows all correspondence received by the OPCC monthly between March 
2020 to February 2022.  

                                            
1 Gloucestershire Police and Crime Prevention Plan 2021-25, page 37 

Page 60

https://www.avonandsomerset-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/volunteering-opportunities/independent-residents-panel/


 
 

 
The chart shows an increase in January to March 2021, with smaller increases seen in 
March 2020, May 2021, June 2021 and January 2022. Covid-19 has disrupted norms during 
this period although increases can be seen in both January 2021 and 2022 which could be 
a seasonal fluctuation. 

 
The average correspondence per month was 79 across the two year span.   

 
The following chart shows the correspondence over the past 12 months (01/03/21-28/02/22) 
 
 

 
 

The average number of correspondence between March 2021 to February 2022 was 79 per 
month which is which is similar to average of 80 per month in the previous 12 month period 
of March 2020 - February 2021. 
 
Increases can be seen in March, May and June in 2021 as well as January in 2022. 

 
Patterns contributing to volume fluctuations between March 2021 to February 2022 are listed 
below: 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

M
a

r-
2

0

A
p

r-
2
0

M
a

y
-2

0

J
u
n

-2
0

J
u
l-

2
0

A
u

g
-2

0

S
e

p
-2

0

O
c
t-

2
0

N
o

v
-2

0

D
e

c
-2

0

J
a
n

-2
1

F
e

b
-2

1

M
a

r-
2

1

A
p

r-
2
1

M
a

y
-2

1

J
u
n

-2
1

J
u
l-

2
1

A
u

g
-2

1

S
e

p
-2

1

O
c
t-

2
1

N
o

v
-2

1

D
e

c
-2

1

J
a
n

-2
2

F
e

b
-2

2

Volume of Correspondence March 20 - February 22

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Volume of Correspondence March 21- February 22

Page 61



 Antisocial behaviour reports increased in June and July to 13 and 17 respectively which 
is greater than the monthly average of 6.5.  

 Budget correspondence spikes in January 2022 with 24 compared with the average of 
3. Budget related correspondence were only seen in March 2021, April 2021, Jan 2022 
and Feb 2022. 

 Freedom of Information (FOI) Act requests increased in March 2021 to 11 compared with 
the monthly average of 3. A smaller increase was noted in January and February in 2022 
which could indicate an anticipated increase in March 2022 although as of 12/03/2022 
there have been no Freedom of Information requests in March 2022.  

 Request for information (not FOI) increased in March 2021 to 20 reports compared with 
the monthly average of 9. 

 Road safety issue concerns spike in June 2021 with 15 reported compared with the 
monthly average of 5. 

 May 2021 saw an increase in miscellaneous correspondence, with 17 compared with the 
monthly average of 8. As a result of the contents of the correspondence it is likely that 
this is the result of PCC Chris Nelson’s appointment in May 2021. Increases in 
miscellaneous correspondence are noted again in September and October with 17 and 
19 respectively, which coincide with the PCC Roadshows through September and 
October 2021. 

  
Between March 2021 and February 2022 correspondence was received in majority via email 
88% (831), letters were 8% (75) and phone calls 3% (32). Other forms included Twitter, local 
noticeboards and in person.  

 
Majority of correspondence received came from members of the public (539, 57%). The 
remaining 247 sources were councillors/councils, media outlets, private organisations, 
charities and government organisations. 

  
The chart below shows just complaints received by the OPCC over last 12 months.  These 
include:  

 ASB issue / report 

 Complaint 

 Complaint against Police 

 Complaint against Chief Constable 
 

 Complaint against the PCC 

 Covid-19 

 Crime issue / report 

 Road safety issue 
 

 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Volume of Complaints

Page 62



The average number was 37 complaints per month which is only slightly higher than the 
average of 35 for March 2020 - February 2021. Covid-19 related complaints ceased from 
July 2021 onwards. 

 
The graph below shows the type of complaint received: 
 

 
 
There are a wide range of topics covered within the context of complaints although anti-
social behaviour, road speed and how cases have been handled were common themes. 
 
The chart below shows Freedom of Information (FOI) requests received by the OPCC over 
last 12 months: 
 

 
 
 
There were 39 FOI requests between 01/03/2021 to 28/02/2022 compared with 47 
01/03/2020 to 28/02/2021. Of the 39 FOIs, 64% were from members of the public and the 
remaining are media outlets and private organisations.  
 
There was an increase in March 2021 which is also seen in the overall volumes of 
correspondence above. 

47%

18%

14%

11%

7%

2% 0% 0%

Type of Complaint

Complaint

ASB issue / report

Road safety issue

Crime issue / report

Complaint against Police

COVID-19

Complaint against the PCC

Complaint against the Chief
Constable

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Freedom of Information Act Requests

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes , 04/02/2022 Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel
	4 HMICFRS INSPECTION REPORT - PROGRESS REPORT
	5 Update on the Review of the role of Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC)
	Update on the review of the role of Police and Crime Commissioner

	6 Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner - Chief Executive Report
	7 Gloucestershire Constabulary Audit Committe
	8 Complaints

